Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jsbmb



Review Steroid sulfatase inhibitors: Promising new tools for breast cancer therapy?

Jürgen Geisler^{a,*}, Hironobu Sasano^b, Shiuan Chen^c, Atul Purohit^d

^a Institute of Clinical Medicine, Division of Clinical Medicine and Laboratory Sciences, University of Oslo, Norway and Akershus University Hospital,

Department of Oncology, Sykehusveien 25, N-1478 Lørenskog, Norway

^b Department of Pathology, Tohoku University School of Medicine, 2-1 Seiryou-machi, Aoba-ku, Sendai, Miyagi, Japan

^c Division of Tumor Cell Biology, Beckman Research Institute of the City of Hope, Duarte, CA, USA

^d Section of Investigative Medicine (CWB-6N2B), Imperial College London, Hammersmith Hospital, London W12 0NN, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 July 2010 Received in revised form 5 February 2011 Accepted 7 February 2011

Keywords: Sulfatase inhibitors Aromatase inhibitors Estrogens Androgens Breast cancer STX 64 STX 213 STX 681 Irosustat

ABSTRACT

Inhibition of aromatase is currently well-established as the major treatment option of hormonedependent breast cancer in postmenopausal women. However, despite the effects of aromatase inhibitors in both early and metastatic breast cancer, endocrine resistance may cause relapses of the disease and progression of metastasis. Thus, driven by the success of manipulating the steroidogenic enzyme aromatase, several alternative enzymes involved in steroid synthesis and metabolism have recently been investigated as possible drug targets. One of the most promising targets is the steroid sulfatase (STS) which converts steroid sulfates like estrone sulfate (E1S) and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS) to estrone (E1) and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), respectively. Estrone and DHEA may thereafter be used for the synthesis of more potent estrogens and androgens that may eventually fuel hormonesensitive breast cancer cells. The present review summarizes the biology behind steroid sulfatase and its inhibition, the currently available information derived from basic and early clinical trials in breast cancer patients, as well as ongoing research.

Article from the Special Issue on Targeted Inhibitors.

© 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	40
2.	Estrogen and androgen synthesis in breast cancer tissue (general introduction)	40
	2.1. Steroid sulfatase in breast cancer tissue (detection, expression and regulation)	41
	2.2. Other steroidogenic enzymes in breast cancer tissue	41
	2.2.1. Aromatase (CYP19)	41
	2.2.2. 17β-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases (17β-HSDs)	42
3.	Sulfatase inhibitors	42
	3.1. STX 64 (667 Coumate, BN83495, Irosustat)	42
	3.2. STX 213	42
	3.3. Other steroid sulfatase inhibitors	42
4.	Clinical experience with steroid sulfatase inhibitors in breast cancer patients	42
5.	Dual sulfatase/aromatase inhibitors	44
6.	Sulfatase inhibitors: ongoing research and future aspects	44
7.	Conclusions	44
	Acknowledgement	44
	References	44

^{*} Corresponding author at: Institute of Medicine, University of Oslo, Faculty Division at Akershus University Hospital, and Department of Oncology, Akershus University Hospital, Sykehusveien 25, N-1478 Lørenskog, Norway. Tel.: +47 67 96 3800; fax: +47 67 96 3820. *E-mail address:* juergen.geisler@medisin.uio.no (J. Geisler).

^{0960-0760/\$ -} see front matter © 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2011.02.002

1. Introduction

Manipulation of estrogen synthesis and action has been used successfully for the treatment of hormone-dependent breast cancer for several decades [1]. While the antiestrogen tamoxifen was the gold standard of treatment during the 80s and early 90s, aromatase inhibitors (AIs) became 1st line therapy for metastatic, hormonedependent breast cancer in postmenopausal women in the late 90s. Recently, aromatase inhibitors were also established as the 1st choice in estrogen receptor (ER) positive, postmenopausal early breast cancer [2]. Thus, estrogen suppression has turned out to be in general a more effective way to treat hormone-dependent breast cancer in selected patients compared to ER-blockade by selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs). However, in spite of all these advances, still many patients experience relapse of their breast cancer disease and all patients with metastatic, ER-positive breast cancer will have a progressive disease after a certain period of clinical benefit. Several studies have suggested conserved estrogen dependency of tumors following progression on first-line and even second-line endocrine therapies [1,3,4]. Thus, selective estrogen receptor downregulators (SERDs) like fulvestrant or steroidal aromatase inactivators like exemestane are currently used as (second-) third-line endocrine therapies in selected patients with MBC. However, other, non-cross-resistant therapies are urgently needed to give those patients an alternative treatment option prolonging the time-period without chemotherapy.

Inhibition of steroid sulfatase (STS) represents such a novel approach blocking the synthesis of a variety of steroids that have the potential to stimulate growth of human breast cancer (Fig. 1). Currently only one type of steroid sulfatase (also referred to as aryl sulfatase C) is known in humans, hydrolysing both aryl (estrone sulfate, E1S) as well as alkyl (DHEAS) steroid sulfates. Important STS crystallization and X-ray crystallographic studies carried out by Ghosh [5] have for the first time identified essential information about STS architecture and catalytic residues present at the active site. In particular, a catalytic cysteine residue, strictly conserved in all sulfatases, is posttranslationally modified into a formylglycine (FGS75). This is further hydrated to form hydroxyformylglycine. It is suggested that the mechanism of sulfate hydrolysis involves covalent attachment of the sulfate from the substrate to the hydroxyformylglycine. Similarly, irreversible inhibition of STS with compounds such as EMATE or Irosustat (i.e., arylsulfamates), involves mechanism-based irreversible inhibition of STS by suicide substrates such as EMATE [6].

As a consequence of steroid sulfatase inhibition, both estrogen and androgen synthesis will be reduced simultaneously. The relevance of steroid sulfatase in human breast cancer is underlined by findings of several studies suggesting steroid sulfatase mRNA in ER-positive breast cancer to be an independent prognostic indicator predicting relapse-free survival, with higher levels of expression being associated with a poor prognosis. Most interesting, Chanplakorn et al. recently showed increased steroid sulfatase and 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 (17β HSD1) immunoreactivity following neoadjuvant therapy with the aromatase inactivator exemestane, suggesting a role for steroid sulfatase in the adaptation processes during therapy with AIs [7].

In contrast, aromatase mRNA levels have not been associated with breast cancer prognosis so far. As high levels of steroid sulfatase activity have been detected in most breast cancers and with convincing evidence for active uptake of sulfates into breast cancer cells via a specific organic anion transporter (organic anion transporter polypeptide B, OATP-B), this pathway may be a major contributor to the well-known elevated estrogen levels in ERpositive human breast cancer tissue [8].

While 60–80% of all postmenopausal breast cancers are classified as ER-positive, the androgen receptor (AR) is co-expressed in up to 80% of the patients. In addition, the AR is still found in many patients with an ER/PGR-negative disease. These findings indicate that human breast cancer cells might be stimulated by androgens via the AR in the absence of ER/PGR.

The STS pathway is also responsible for the production of another steroid with estrogenic properties, namely 5androstenediol (Adiol), from DHEAS and subsequent reduction of DHEA by 17 β -HSD1. Adiol, although an androgen, can bind to the ER and has been shown to stimulate the proliferation of a number of ER-positive breast cancer cells in an ER-dependent manner. Despite its lower affinity for the ER, the 100-fold higher concentration of this hormone has led to the speculation that it may have equally efficacious estrogenic properties to estradiol. This might be the case particularly under clinical situations when patients are treated with aromatase inhibitors, estradiol synthesis has been suppressed by >99% to undetectable levels, but at the same time the tumors have become sensitised to very low estrogen concentrations [9]. Adiol has been shown to stimulate tumor growth even in the presence of an AI and Billich et al. [10] demonstrated that inhibition of steroid sulfatase blocked DHEAS-stimulated growth of MCF-7 breast cancer cells; the same effect was not achieved by the use of an aromatase inhibitor thus highlighting that the generation of Adiol from DHEAS occurred totally independent from the aromatase-pathway. This is of clinical significance because in postmenopausal breast cancer patients treated with AIs, unrestricted production of Adiol can occur via the steroid sulfatase pathway and may promote tumor progression.

Motivated by the findings presented here, several inhibitors of steroid sulfatase have been developed. These drugs have been shown to be very potent inhibitors of steroid sulfatase activity in vivo and are currently being tested in early clinical trials for the treatment of human breast cancer. The theoretical background, basic endocrine findings as well as clinical experience with these compounds available so far will be summarized in the following chapters.

2. Estrogen and androgen synthesis in breast cancer tissue (general introduction)

The origin and manipulation of estrogen levels in human breast cancer tissue has been the subject of intensive research [11-13]. It is currently believed that both uptake from the circulation as well as local synthesis in the tumor contribute to the local estrogen concentrations in a particular breast tumor [8]. Beside steroid sulfatase, a network of different enzymes is involved in human estrogen synthesis and metabolism (Fig. 1). Most of hormoneresponsive breast tumors express three major enzyme systems [i.e., aromatase/CYP19, STS and 17β -HSD] that are responsible for the local formation of E2. Aromatase is a cytochrome P450 (CYP450). It interacts with NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase and converts androgens (mainly androstenedione and minor testosterone) into estrogens (mainly E1 and minor E2). After E1 is synthesized by aromatase, it can be converted to E1S (mainly in liver) by the catalysis of estrogen sulfotransferase [14]. Through circulation, E1S can be then stored in tissues, including breast tumors. Steroid sulfatase catalyzes the hydrolysis of E1S to E1, which is subsequently reduced to E2 by 17β -HSD1. 17β -HSDs are a group of enzymes that catalyze dehydrogenation of 17-hydroxysteroids in steroidogenesis. 17β-HSD1 is the best studied isozyme and remains an important enzyme for E2 production because it can use E1 as a substrate from both aromatase and sulfatase pathways, and it principally synthesizes E2 using reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADPH) as a cofactor [15].

In addition to estrogen uptake and synthesis, the expression of the ER has been suggested as a major factor influencing on estrogen disposition in human breast cancer [16].



Fig. 1. Major pathways of estrogen and androgen synthesis in human breast cancer tissue. A, androstenedione; T, testosterone; E1, estrone; E2, estradiol; E1S, estrone sulfate; DHEA, dehydroepiandrosterone; DHEAS, dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate; 17-β-HSD, 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase; STS, steroid sulfatase; SULT, steroid sulfotransferase; ER, estrogen receptor; ERE, estrogen receptor response element; ADIOL, androstenediol; ADIOL-S, androstenediol-sulfate.

2.1. Steroid sulfatase in breast cancer tissue (detection, expression and regulation)

Steroid sulfatase activity has been reported to be higher in breast cancer tissues than that in normal breast tissues as has been stated above. In addition, the enzymatic activity of steroid sulfatase is detected in the great majority of human breast tumors [17,18], although Evans et al. [18] reported no significant association between steroid sulfatase activity and clinical parameters such as time to recurrence or overall survival time in breast cancer patients. Therefore, the analysis of steroid sulfatase enzymatic activity could be the gold standard in determining the status of steroid sulfatase in individual patients with breast cancer. However, rather laborious procedures of this enzymatic assays as well as requirement of frozen tissue specimens have made it difficult to be applied in a wide scale fashion for routine clinical practice. mRNA expression of steroid sulfatase could be evaluated in breast carcinoma tissues and results were usually correlated with those of enzymatic activities [13]. Utsumi et al. [19] reported that patients with high mRNA levels for steroid sulfatase were associated with an increased risk of recurrence after surgery. However, the analysis of mRNA in clinical specimens is usually associated with similar problems described above. Therefore, it then becomes important to apply more practical methods of evaluating the steroid sulfatase status in individual breast cancer patients.

Immunohistochemical evaluation using archival or 10% formalin-fixed and paraffin embedded tissue specimens have been in general considered ideal in this point. Various attempts have been made in immunohistochemical analysis of steroid sulfatase in clinical materials of breast cancer patients. Saeki et al. [20] reported the presence of steroid sulfatase immunoreactivity in carcinoma

cells in 22 out of 25 cases (88.0%). Suzuki et al. further evaluated immunolocalization of steroid sulfatase in 113 cases of human breast invasive ductal carcinoma using immunohistochemistry and reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) [21]. Steroid sulfatase immunoreactivity was detected in carcinoma cells in 84 out of 113 carcinoma cases (74.3%), respectively, which was also associated with mRNA levels determined by RT-PCR analysis. This immunohistochemical detection kit is currently available for detection of steroid sulfatase immunoreactivity using the same primary antibody above [21].

Steroid sulfatase immunoreactivity was detected in cytoplasm of carcinoma cells as shown in Fig. 2. In addition, the combined analysis of micro-dissection/RT-PCR analyses demonstrated that both steroid sulfatase protein and mRNA were detected only in carcinoma or parenchymal cells, which is consistent with results of immunohistochemistry. In addition, steroid sulfatase immunoreactivity in these carcinoma cells was positively associated with tumor size of the patients.

2.2. Other steroidogenic enzymes in breast cancer tissue

2.2.1. Aromatase (CYP19)

The enzyme aromatase is encoded by the human CYP19 gene (P450 arom), a member of the cytochrome P_{450} superfamily, localized on the long arm of chromosome 15(15q21)[22]. Aromatization of C_{19} steroid precursors is the rate-limiting step in estrogen synthesis in humans and is regulated by the use of 10 tissue-specific promoters [23,24]. Aromatase inhibition is currently the dominating treatment option for postmenopausal, hormone dependent breast cancer suitable for endocrine manoevres [25]. Three compounds, all belonging to the "third generation" of drugs are in use:



Fig. 2. Detection of steroid sulfatase in human breast cancer tissue. Steroid sulfatase immunoreactivity was detected in the cytoplasm of human breast cancer cells using low power (A) and high power (B) magnification.

the two nonsteroidal aromatase inhibitors anastrozole and letrozole as well as the steroidal aromatase inactivator exemestane. During therapy with these compounds, plasma and tissue estrogen levels have been shown to be suppressed significantly in breast cancer patients [26–28].

2.2.2. 17β -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases (17β -HSDs)

The 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases are pre-receptor activating/inactivating hormones in vivo [29]. At present, 15 isoforms of 17β -HSD have been identified [30–32]. One way to form the biologically most active estrogen estradiol (E2) is the reduction of estrone (E1) by the isoforms 17B-HSD1, 17B-HSD5, 17B-HSD7 and 17β -HSD12 (Fig. 1). While 17β -HSD1 has been suggested to play the major role in humans [33], recent data published by Haynes et al. showed a significant positive correlation of intratumor E2 levels with 17β-HSD7 only [16]. High mRNA levels of 17β -HSD5 have been shown to be related to a significantly higher risk of late relapse in ER-positive patients remaining recurrencefree later than 5 years after diagnosis [34]. Selective inhibitors of 17β -HSD isoforms have been synthesized with the goal to investigate their potential in breast cancer therapy [35,36]. STX 1040, a selective inhibitor of 17-HSD1, was recently reported to be efficacious in vivo in a breast cancer xenograft model [37]. In a separate study, Husen et al. reported the inhibitory activities of their inhibitors in a MCF-7 (17-HSD1) model in immunodeficient mice [38].

3. Sulfatase inhibitors

3.1. STX 64 (667 Coumate, BN83495, Irosustat)

The first specifically designed and synthesized steroid sulfatase inhibitor was estrone methylthiophosphonate (E1-MTP), an E1Ssurrogate which possessed modest inhibitory properties. Extensive structure-activity relationship studies led to the identification of estrone 3-O-sulfamate (EMATE) as the first ever mechanism-based irreversible inhibitor of STS (Fig. 3, 1). Unexpectedly, however, EMATE was found to have potent estrogenic properties, being 5 times more estrogenic than ethinylestradiol in rodents on oral application. This undesirable property stimulated the development of non-steroidal mimics which led to the discovery of STX 64, the only steroid sulfatase inhibitor that has entered into a phase I trial to date (Fig. 3, 2). STX 64 is a non-steroidal agent with a tricyclic coumarin scaffold. It was shown to be devoid of estrogenic activity, as tested in an ovariectomised rat uterotrophic assay, and showed excellent efficacy in various in vivo tumor models [39].

3.2. STX 213

Many efforts were also made in parallel to retain the steroidal scaffold but overcome the estrogenic drawbacks of EMATE. These strategies included modification of its ring system or the introduction of substituents at various positions of its steroidal scaffold to generate non-estrogenic derivatives which remained highly potent inhibitors of steroid sulfatase. STX 213 (Fig. 3) represents one such inhibitor, where the natural steroid cyclopentanone D-ring is replaced by a N-substituted piperidine-2,6-dione ring. STX 213 proved to be 8-fold and 18-fold more potent in vitro than STX 64 and EMATE respectively and was completely devoid of any estrogenic activity. It was thus chosen for preclinical development as a second-generation steroid sulfatase inhibitor. The most significant distinction of the second generation STS inhibitor was its prolonged duration of steroid sulfatase inhibition. The time to recover 50% of rat liver steroid sulfatase activity $(t\frac{1}{2})$ was around 3 days for STX 64 but 10 days for STX 213 when tested at a single oral dose of each inhibitor of 10 mg/kg [40,41].

3.3. Other steroid sulfatase inhibitors

In the past decade many other steroid sulfatase inhibitors have been identified including 6-[2-(adamantylidene)hydroxybenzoxazole]-O-sulfamate (AHBS, Fig. 3, **4**) [42] and KW-2581 (Fig. 3, **5**) [43]. Recently, a novel dual sulfatase–antiestrogen inhibitor, SR16157 (Fig. 3, **10**), has completed preclinical toxicity and PK evaluation in dogs and has excellent bioavailability and favourable safety profile [44]. However, to date, all highly active and irreversible steroid sulfatase inhibitors incorporate the phenol sulfamate ester pharmacophore required for potent steroid sulfatase inhibition, and first identified in EMATE.

4. Clinical experience with steroid sulfatase inhibitors in breast cancer patients

Clinical experience with sulfatase inhibitors is still limited. However, recently Stanway et al. published the results of a phase I, single-arm, open-label, study of the non-steroidal sulfatase inhibitor STX 64 (667 Coumate; BN83495, Irosustat) [45]. Briefly, 14 postmenopausal patients suffering from either metastatic or locally advanced breast cancer patients were enrolled in this study. The patients were heavily pretreated with antiestrogens, aromatase inhibitors, other endocrine options and with several lines of chemotherapy (median: 2). STX 64 was given in two different doses. A 5 mg daily dose was given to nine patients while five patients received a 20 mg daily dose. Steroid sulfatase activity in human tumor samples was inhibited at the 5 and 20 mg doses by



Fig. 3. Structures: selected steroid sulfatase inhibitors (compounds 1–5), aromatase inhibitors (compounds 6–8), a dual aromatase–sulfatase inhibitor ("DASI"; compound 9), as well as a dual sulfatase–antiestrogen inhibitor (compound 10).

99% (median) with both doses. In addition, plasma median concentrations of E1 were decreased at the 5 and 20 doses by 55% and 42%, respectively, with E2 plasma levels decreasing by 47% and 41%, respectively. Concerning plasma androgens, the levels of DHEA, androstenedione (A), and testosterone (T) were decreased by 52%, 63%, and 46%, respectively during therapy with STX 64. Although not a primary endpoint of this study, several patients experienced a stable disease for 2.75 to 7 months during therapy with STX 64 [45].

A further dose-escalation study in 29 patients has been completed recently [46]. The optimum dose was determined to be 40 mg of STX 64 per patient per day in tablet form.

5. Dual sulfatase/aromatase inhibitors

Since aromatase is needed for the synthesis of estrogens that are then converted into estrogen sulfates by estrogen sulfotransferase, hormone-dependent breast cancer may be more effectively treated by dual inhibition of aromatase and steroid sulfatase. A new design strategy was explored that involves introducing the aromatase inhibitory pharmacophore into a template that has been designed primarily for sulfatase inhibition [47]. A series of compounds that can inhibit both aromatase and sulfatase have been developed based on the structure of estrone 3-sulfamate, a typical estrone sulfatase inhibitor [48]. In contrast, a series of single agent dual aromatase-sulfatase inhibitors that are sulfamate derivatives of nonsteroidal AIs, including letrozole and anastrozole, have been successfully developed [49-51]. The design of these dual aromatase-sulfatase inhibitors shares a common strategy; that is, to engender the sulfatase inhibitory pharmacophore into an established aromatase inhibitor with minimal structural change incurred to the original scaffold in order to retain and maximize aromatase inhibition. At the same time, possible negative pharmacological interactions between several aromatase and sulfatase inhibitors given in concert could be avoided. It is also reasoned that resistance to drugs targeting two different enzymes is not likely to develop simultaneously. Thus, Dual Aromatase-Sulfatase Inhibitors (DASIs) have been developed engendering the steroid sulfatase inhibitory pharmacophore into established aromatase inhibitors with minimal structural changes otherwise. At this stage, DASIs are available based on the triazoles letrozole (Fig. 3, 6 [52], anastrozole (Fig. 3, 7) [53], and YM511 (Fig. 3, 8) [51], in addition to alternative AIs characterized by their biphenyl templates [54].

STX 681 (Fig. 3, **9**) is a YM511-based DASI that has been shown to have in vivo activity. Using a xenograft nude mouse model, Foster et al. demonstrated that STX 681 completely inhibited the growth of MCF- 7_{AROM} and MCF- 7_{STS} tumors [55]. The authors conclude that targeting both the aromatase enzyme and the sulfatase enzyme at the same time has the potential to become a novel treatment strategy of hormone-dependent breast cancer (HDBC).

6. Sulfatase inhibitors: ongoing research and future aspects

Given the potency of this new class of sulfamate-based steroid sulfatase inhibitors, the large volume of preclinical data available on the use of steroidal and non-steroidal STS inhibitors in a variety of hormone-dependent cancer models and, given the encouraging results obtained in two phase I studies completed with BN83495 (STX 64) it will be important to carry out clinical trials to assess its efficacy in different clinical settings as well as in non-cancer disease indications. While clinical studies are planned to investigate the effect of BN83495 in women with ER-positive early breast cancer, the compound is currently in further clinical development for advanced endometrial cancer (phase II) as well as in phase I evaluation for castrate-resistant prostate cancer in North America. Additional trials will examine whether combining BN83495 with an AI or LHRH antagonist will improve response rates.

As the biological role of steroid sulfatase is also implicated in several disorders of the skin (acne, psoriasis, hirsuitism) and in memory function, BN83495 may find use in such non-cancer diseases [6].

7. Conclusions

Inhibition of steroid sulfatase is one promising new approach to develop alternative treatment strategies for hormone-sensitive breast cancer. In contrast to aromatase inhibition alone, suppressing plasma and tissue estrogen synthesis, sulfatase inhibition causes both estrogen and androgen depletion simultaneously. Early clinical findings suggest that breast cancer patients with progressive disease while on therapy with aromatase inhibitors, may experience a new response when treated with a steroid sulfatase inhibitor as monotherapy. Most interesting, upregulation of steroid sulfatase has recently been confirmed in breast cancer patients treated with an aromatase inhibitor, suggesting steroid sulfatase to be possibly involved in adaptation to estrogen deprivation and/or endocrine resistance. Phase I-II trials involving sulfatase inhibitors are now initiated to study the influence of these compounds on intra-tumor steroid levels and enzyme activity. Moreover, compounds inhibiting aromatase and sulfatase activity at the same time (DASIs) have been developed.

While sulfatase inhibition certainly is one of the most promising new treatment strategies for hormone-sensitive breast cancer, its role in daily praxis is currently unclear. Ongoing trials will investigate the potential of these drugs either as monotherapy or in combination with established drugs. Finally, the identification of biological relevant tumor markers that might serve as predictive factors (like steroid sulfatase activity in human cancer tissue, normal tissue, hair etc.) is urgently requested to allow the use of these drugs in groups of patients with a high chance for clinical responses.

Acknowledgement

This work was supported by a strategic scientific grant provided by "Helse Sør-Øst" (Oslo, Norway, J.G.).

References

- J. Geisler, P.E. Lonning, Aromatase inhibition: translation into a successful therapeutic approach, Clin, Cancer Res. 11 (8) (2005) 2809–2821.
- [2] J. Geisler, P.E. Lonning, Aromatase inhibitors as adjuvant treatment of breast cancer, Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol. 57 (1) (2006) 53–61.
- [3] W.R. Miller, J.M. Bartlett, P. Canney, M. Verrill, Hormonal therapy for postmenopausal breast cancer: the science of sequencing, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 103 (2) (2007) 149–160.
- [4] S. Chia, W. Gradishar, L. Mauriac, J. Bines, F. Amant, M. Federico, L. Fein, G. Romieu, A. Buzdar, J.F. Robertson, A. Brufsky, K. Possinger, P. Rennie, F. Sapunar, E. Lowe, M. Piccart, Double-blind, randomized placebo controlled trial of fulvestrant compared with exemestane after prior nonsteroidal aromatase inhibitor therapy in postmenopausal women with hormone receptor-positive, advanced breast cancer: results from EFECT, J. Clin. Oncol. 26 (10) (2008) 1664–1670.
- [5] D Ghosh, Human sulfatases: a structural perspective to catalysis, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 64 (15) (2007) 2013–2022.
- [6] M.J. Reed, A. Purohit, L.W. Woo, S.P. Newman, B.V. Potter, Steroid sulfatase: molecular biology, regulation, and inhibition, Endocr. Rev. 26 (2) (2005) 171–202.
- [7] N Chanplakorn, P. Chanplakorn, T. Suzuki, K. Ono, M.S. Chan, Y. Miki, S. Saji, T. Ueno, M. Toi, H. Sasano, Increased estrogen sulfatase (STS) and 17betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1(17beta-HSD1) following neoadjuvant aromatase inhibitor therapy in breast cancer patients, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 120 (3) (2010) 639–648.
- [8] P.E. Lonning, H. Helle, N.K. Duong, D. Ekse, T. Aas, J. Geisler, Tissue estradiol is selectively elevated in receptor positive breast cancers while tumour estrone is reduced independent of receptor status, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 117 (1-3) (2009) 31-41.
- [9] S. Masamura, S.J. Santner, D.F. Heitjan, R.J. Santen, Estrogen deprivation causes estradiol hypersensitivity in human breast cancer cells, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 80 (10) (1995) 2918–2925.
- [10] A. Billich, P. Nussbaumer, P. Lehr, Stimulation of MCF-7 breast cancer cell proliferation by estrone sulfate and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate: inhibition by novel non-steroidal steroid sulfatase inhibitors, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 73 (5) (2000) 225–235.
- [11] J. Geisler, Breast cancer tissue estrogens and their manipulation with aromatase inhibitors and inactivators, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 86(3–5)(2003) 245–253.

- [12] A. Subramanian, M. Salhab, K. Mokbel, Oestrogen producing enzymes and mammary carcinogenesis: a review, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 111 (2) (2008) 191–202.
- [13] J.R. Pasqualini, G.S. Chetrite, Recent insight on the control of enzymes involved in estrogen formation and transformation in human breast cancer, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 93 (2–5) (2005) 221–236.
- [14] L. Tseng, J. Mazella, L.Y. Lee, M.L. Stone, Estrogen sulfatase and estrogen sulfotransferase in human primary mammary carcinoma, J. Steroid Biochem. 19 (4) (1983) 1413–1417.
- [15] J.A. Aka, M. Mazumdar, C.Q. Chen, D. Poirier, S.X. Lin, 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 stimulates breast cancer by dihydrotestosterone inactivation in addition to estradiol production, Mol. Endocrinol. 24 (4) (2010) 832–845.
- [16] B.P. Haynes, A.H. Straume, J. Geisler, R. A'Hern, H. Helle, I.E. Smith, P.E. Lonning, M. Dowsett, Intratumoral estrogen disposition in breast cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. 16 (6) (2010) 1790–1801.
- [17] S.J. Santner, P.D. Feil, R.J. Santen, In situ estrogen production via the estrone sulfatase pathway in breast tumors: relative importance versus the aromatase pathway, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 59 (1) (1984) 29–33.
- [18] T.R. Evans, M.G. Rowlands, M. Law, R.C. Coombes, Intratumoral oestrone sulphatase activity as a prognostic marker in human breast carcinoma, Br. J. Cancer 69 (3) (1994) 555–561.
- [19] T. Utsumi, N. Yoshimura, S. Takeuchi, J. Ando, M. Maruta, K. Maeda, N. Harada, Steroid sulfatase expression is an independent predictor of recurrence in human breast cancer, Cancer Res. 59 (2) (1999) 377–381.
- [20] T. Saeki, S. Takashima, H. Sasaki, N. Hanai, D.S. Salomon, Localization of estrone sulfatase in human breast carcinomas, Breast Cancer 6 (4) (1999) 331–337.
- [21] T. Suzuki, T. Nakata, Y. Miki, C. Kaneko, T. Moriya, T. Ishida, S. Akinaga, H. Hirakawa, M. Kimura, H. Sasano, Estrogen sulfotransferase and steroid sulfatase in human breast carcinoma, Cancer Res. 63 (11) (2003) 2762–2770.
- [22] S.A. Chen, M.J. Besman, R.S. Sparkes, S. Zollman, I. Klisak, T. Mohandas, P.F. Hall, J.E. Shively, Human aromatase: cDNA cloning, Southern blot analysis, and assignment of the gene to chromosome 15, DNA 7 (1) (1988) 27–38.
- [23] S.E. Bulun, Z. Lin, G. Imir, S. Amin, M. Demura, B. Yilmaz, R. Martin, H. Utsunomiya, S. Thung, B. Gurates, M. Tamura, D. Langoi, S. Deb, Regulation of aromatase expression in estrogen-responsive breast and uterine disease: from bench to treatment, Pharmacol. Rev. 57 (3) (2005) 359–383.
- [24] E.R. Simpson, C. Clyne, G. Rubin, W.C. Boon, K. Robertson, K. Britt, C. Speed, M. Jones, Aromatase—a brief overview, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 64 (2002) 93–127.
- [25] I.E. Smith, M. Dowsett, Aromatase inhibitors in breast cancer, N. Engl. J. Med. 348 (24) (2003) 2431–2442.
- [26] J. Geisler, H. Helle, D. Ekse, N.K. Duong, D.B. Evans, Y. Nordbo, T. Aas, P.E. Lonning, Letrozole is superior to anastrozole in suppressing breast cancer tissue and plasma estrogen levels, Clin. Cancer Res. 14 (19) (2008) 6330–6335.
- [27] J. Geisler, N. King, G. Anker, G. Ornati, E. Di Salle, P.E. Lonning, M. Dowsett, In vivo inhibition of aromatization by exemestane, a novel irreversible aromatase inhibitor, in postmenopausal breast cancer patients, Clin. Cancer Res. 4 (9) (1998) 2089–2093.
- [28] J Geisler, B. Haynes, G. Anker, M. Dowsett, P.E. Lonning, Influence of letrozole and anastrozole on total body aromatization and plasma estrogen levels in postmenopausal breast cancer patients evaluated in a randomized, cross-over study, J. Clin. Oncol. 20 (3) (2002) 751–757.
- [29] V.V. Isomaa, S.A. Ghersevich, O.K. Maentausta, E.H. Peltoketo, M.H. Poutanen, R.K. Vihko, Steroid biosynthetic enzymes: 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, Ann. Med. 25 (1) (1993) 91–97.
- [30] J.M. Day, P.A. Foster, H.J. Tutill, M.F. Parsons, S.P. Newman, S.K. Chander, G.M. Allan, H.R. Lawrence, N. Vicker, B.V. Potter, M.J. Reed, A. Purohit, 17betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase Type 1, and not Type 12, is a target for endocrine therapy of hormone-dependent breast cancer, Int. J. Cancer 122 (9) (2008) 1931–1940.
- [31] Y Laplante, C. Rancourt, D. Poirier, Relative involvement of three 17betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenases (types 1, 7 and 12) in the formation of estradiol in various breast cancer cell lines using selective inhibitors, Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 301 (1–2) (2009) 146–153.
- [32] J.M. Day, H.J. Tutill, A. Purohit, M.J. Reed, Design and validation of specific inhibitors of 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases for therapeutic application in breast and prostate cancer, and in endometriosis, Endocr. Relat. Cancer 15 (3) (2008) 665–692.
- [33] M.J Reed, A. Singh, M.W. Ghilchik, N.G. Coldham, A. Purohit, Regulation of oestradiol 17 beta hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in breast tissues: the role of growth factors, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 39 (5B) (1991) 791–798.
- [34] A.K. Jansson, C. Gunnarsson, M. Cohen, T. Sivik, O. Stal, 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 14 affects estradiol levels in breast cancer cells and is a prognostic marker in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer, Cancer Res. 66 (23) (2006) 11471–11477.
- [35] J.A. Aka, M. Mazumdar, S.X. Lin, Reductive 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases in the sulfatase pathway: critical in the cell proliferation of breast cancer, Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 301 (1–2) (2009) 183–190.
- [36] M. Frotscher, E. Ziegler, S. Marchais-Oberwinkler, P. Kruchten, A. Neugebauer, L. Fetzer, C. Scherer, U. Muller-Vieira, J. Messinger, H. Thole, R.W. Hartmann,

Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of (hydroxyphenyl)naphthalene and -quinoline derivatives: potent and selective nonsteroidal inhibitors of 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 (17beta-HSD1) for the treatment of estrogen-dependent diseases, J. Med. Chem. 51 (7) (2008) 2158–2169.

- [37] J.M Day, H.J. Tutill, S.P. Newman, A. Purohit, H.R. Lawrence, N. Vicker, B.V. Potter, M.J. Reed, 17Beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase Type 1 and Type 2: association between mRNA expression and activity in cell lines, Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 248 (1–2) (2006) 246–249.
- [38] B. Husen, K. Huhtinen, M. Poutanen, L. Kangas, J. Messinger, H. Thole, Evaluation of inhibitors for 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 in vivo in immunodeficient mice inoculated with MCF-7 cells stably expressing the recombinant human enzyme, Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 248 (1–2) (2006) 109–113.
- [39] A. Purohit, L.W. Woo, B.V. Potter, M.J. Reed, In vivo inhibition of estrone sulfatase activity and growth of nitrosomethylurea-induced mammary tumors by 667 COUMATE, Cancer Res. 60 (13) (2000) 3394–3396.
- [40] P.A. Foster, S.P. Newman, S.K. Chander, C. Stengel, R. Jhalli, L.L. Woo, B.V. Potter, M.J. Reed, A. Purohit, In vivo efficacy of STX213, a second-generation steroid sulfatase inhibitor, for hormone-dependent breast cancer therapy, Clin. Cancer Res. 12 (18) (2006) 5543–5549.
- [41] P.A Foster, S.K. Chander, M.F. Parsons, S.P. Newman, L.W. Woo, B.V. Potter, M.J. Reed, A. Purohit, Efficacy of three potent steroid sulfatase inhibitors: preclinical investigations for their use in the treatment of hormone-dependent breast cancer, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 111 (1) (2008) 129–138.
- [42] A. Billich, J.G. Meingassner, P. Nussbaumer, S. Desrayaud, C. Lam, A. Winiski, E. Schreiner, 6-[2-(Adamantylidene)-hydroxybenzoxazole]-O-sulfamate, a steroid sulfatase inhibitor for the treatment of androgen- and estrogendependent diseases, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 92 (1–2) (2004) 29–37.
- [43] H. Ishida, T. Nakata, M. Suzuki, Y. Shiotsu, H. Tanaka, N. Sato, Y. Terasaki, M. Takebayashi, H. Anazawa, C. Murakata, P.K. Li, T. Kuwabara, S. Akinaga, A novel steroidal selective steroid sulfatase inhibitor KW-2581 inhibits sulfatedestrogen dependent growth of breast cancer cells in vitro and in animal models, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 106 (2) (2007) 215–227.
- [44] L. Sambucetti, C. Green, L. Rausch, W. Chao, S. Le Valley, N. Zaveri, J. Mirsalis, SR 16157 is a potent dual-acting inhibitor of estrogen biosynthesis and estrogen receptor, Cancer Res. 69 (24 Suppl.) (2009) 5124 (abstract).
- [45] S.J. Stanway, A. Purohit, L.W. Woo, S. Sufi, D. Vigushin, R. Ward, R.H. Wilson, F.Z. Stanczyk, N. Dobbs, E. Kulinskaya, M. Elliott, B.V. Potter, M.J. Reed, R.C. Coombes, Phase I study of STX 64 (667 Coumate) in breast cancer patients: the first study of a steroid sulfatase inhibitor, Clin. Cancer Res. 12 (5) (2006) 1585–1592.
- [46] R.C. Coombes, P. Schmid, N. Isambert, P. Soulié, F. Cardoso, T. Besse-Hammer, T. Lesimple, D. Slosman, A. Kornowski, V. Fohanno, P. Fumoleau, A Phase I dose escalation study of steroid sulfatase inhibitor BN83495/STX64 in postmenopausal women with ER positive breast cancer, Cancer Res. 69 (24 Suppl.) (2009) 4097, abstract.
- [47] L.W. Woo, T. Jackson, A. Putey, G. Cozier, P. Leonard, K.R. Acharya, S.K. Chander, A. Purohit, M.J. Reed, B.V. Potter, Highly potent first examples of dual aromatase-steroid sulfatase inhibitors based on a biphenyl template, J. Med. Chem. 53 (5) (2010) 2155–2170.
- [48] M. Numazawa, T. Tominaga, Y. Watari, Y. Tada, Inhibition of estrone sulfatase by aromatase inhibitor-based estrogen 3-sulfamates, Steroids 71 (5) (2006) 371–379.
- [49] L.W. Woo, C. Bubert, O.B. Sutcliffe, A. Smith, S.K. Chander, M.F. Mahon, A. Purohit, M.J. Reed, B.V. Potter, Dual aromatase-steroid sulfatase inhibitors, J. Med. Chem. 50 (15) (2007) 3540–3560.
- [50] L.W. Woo, D.S. Fischer, C.M. Sharland, M. Trusselle, P.A. Foster, S.K. Chander, A. Di Fiore, C.T. Supuran, G. De Simone, A. Purohit, M.J. Reed, B.V. Potter, Anticancer steroid sulfatase inhibitors: synthesis of a potent fluorinated second-generation agent, in vitro and in vivo activities, molecular modeling, and protein crystallography, Mol. Cancer Ther. 7 (8) (2008) 2435–2444.
- [51] L.W Woo, O.B. Sutcliffe, C. Bubert, A. Grasso, S.K. Chander, A. Purohit, M.J. Reed, B.V. Potter, First dual aromatase-steroid sulfatase inhibitors, J. Med. Chem. 46 (15) (2003) 3193–3196.
- [52] P.M. Wood, L.W. Woo, A. Humphreys, S.K. Chander, A. Purohit, M.J. Reed, B.V. Potter, A letrozole-based dual aromatase-sulphatase inhibitor with in vivo activity, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 94 (1–3) (2005) 123–130.
- [53] T. Jackson, L.W. Woo, M.N. Trusselle, S.K. Chander, A. Purohit, M.J. Reed, B.V. Potter, Dual aromatase-sulfatase inhibitors based on the anastrozole template: synthesis, in vitro SAR, molecular modelling and in vivo activity, Org. Biomol. Chem. 5 (20) (2007) 2940–2952.
- [54] L.W Woo, T. Jackson, A. Putey, G. Cozier, P. Leonard, K.R. Acharya, S.K. Chander, A. Purohit, M.J. Reed, B.V. Potter, Highly potent first examples of dual aromatase–steroid sulfatase inhibitors based on a biphenyl template, J. Med. Chem. 53 (5) (2010) 2155–2170.
- [55] P.A. Foster, S.K. Chander, S.P. Newman, L.W. Woo, O.B. Sutcliffe, C. Bubert, D. Zhou, S. Chen, B.V. Potter, M.J. Reed, A. Purohit, A new therapeutic strategy against hormone-dependent breast cancer: the preclinical development of a dual aromatase and sulfatase inhibitor, Clin. Cancer Res. 14 (20) (2008) 6469–6477.